STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County

Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JOHN IRA DUNCAN III,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-001919

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED
Apr 14 2021
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial judge err in admitting State's Exhibit #37, a video containing two separate interviews with a witness, as extrinsic evidence of three purported prior inconsistent statements pursuant to Rule 613(b) when the State failed to lay the proper foundation for one of the statements and the witness did not deny or not recall making another of the statements?
2. When State's Exhibit #37, the video containing two separate interviews with a witness, was published to the jury at trial, did the trial judge err in allowing the State to edit the Exhibit to include a purported subtitle transcript of the interviews prepared by an employee of the prosecutor's office, as the State argued that the added subtitle transcript portion was only for demonstrative purposes and would not be admitted in evidence and sent back to the jury?
3. In this murder case where there was evidence presented that Appellant acted in self-defense, did the trial judge err in instructing the jury that, "The law says that if one intentionally kills another with a deadly weapon, the implication of malice may arise."?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 20, 2015, the State filed a juvenile petition against Appellant, John Ira Duncan, alleging that he committed murder and possessed a firearm during the commission of a violent crime, 2015-JU-07-190, 191. On October 28, 2016, a waiver hearing was held in the Beaufort County Family Court before the Honorable Peter L. Fuge. Jared S. Newman represented the juvenile. Jean McCormick represented the State. In an order filed November 16, 2016, Judge Fuge transferred both charges to the Court of General Sessions. (R. p. 107). In June of 2017, the Beaufort County Grand Jury indicted the juvenile for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, indictments #2016-GS-07-2133, 2134. (R. p. 770). On January 14, 2019, the weapons charge was dismissed because that charge cannot be waived from Family Court. (R. p. 773). On May 6, 2019, the juvenile proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Brooks Goldsmith. Jeffrey Scott Stephens and Benjamin John Tripp represented the juvenile. Solicitor Isaac McDuffie Stone, III, and Sean Paul Thornton prosecuted the case. The jury returned a verdict of guilty and sentencing was deferred until November 6, 2019. After hearing testimony from witnesses, Judge Goldsmith sentenced the juvenile to thirty-seven (37) years in prison. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on November 14, 2019. This appeal follows.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

1. Admission of prior inconsistent statement:

In criminal cases, the appellate court only reviews errors of law and is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless the findings are clearly erroneous. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). Rulings on the admission of evidence are within the trial court's discretion and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Stokes, 381 S.C. 390, 398, 673 S.E.2d 434, 438 (2009).

Our courts have consistently held that a trial court's decision to admit evidence of a witness's prior inconsistent statement will not be reversed absent a manifest abuse of discretion. State v. Lynn, 277 S.C. 222, 225, 284 S.E.2d 786, 788 (1981); State v. Sierra, 337 S.C. 368, 373, 523 S.E.2d 187, 189 (Ct. App. 1999) (finding appellant must show both abuse of discretion and resulting prejudice).

2. Admission of demonstrative evidence:

We believe the standard for merely showing or exhibiting demonstrative evidence, however, would not be higher than the standard for actually admitting demonstrative evidence. The trial court has broad discretion in the admission or rejection of evidence and will not be overturned unless it abuses that discretion. See Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 529 S.E.2d 528 (2000), *aff'g as modified* 332 S.C. 433, 504 S.E.2d 605 (Ct.App.1998) (trial court has broad discretion in whether to admit a computer animation as demonstrative evidence); Holmes v. Black River Elec. Coop., 274 S.C. 252, 262 S.E.2d 875 (1980) (pictures of plaintiff's amputated arm were demonstrative evidence that aided the jury in evaluating the injury suffered and, as such, were admissible within the discretion of the trial court); State v. Barrs, 257 S.C. 193, 199,

184 S.E.2d 708, 711 (1971) (no error in admitting copper wire coils of the same type as those allegedly stolen by the defendant because the coils were “simply demonstrative evidence, useful in the examination of witnesses”). Davis v. Traylor, 340 S.C. 150, 530 S.E.2d 385, 388 (Ct. App. 2000).

3. Jury instruction:

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). “An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge's decision regarding jury charges absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Santiago, 370 S.C. 153, 159, 634 S.E.2d 23, 26 (Ct.App.2006). Generally, the trial court is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina. Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 665, 594 S.E.2d 462, 472 (2004). A charge to the jury is correct if it contains the correct definition of the law when read as a whole. Id. at 665, 594 S.E.2d at 472-73.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The jury found Appellant guilty in the fatal shooting of Dominique Williams. At the time of the shooting, Sunday, July 19, 2015, John Duncan, the Appellant, was fifteen years old. John attended Hilton Head High School where he played football and ran track. (R. p. 586, line 10 – p. 587, lines 1-8). On the Friday night before the shooting Dominique Williams, Jestin Morrow, a classmate who played football with John, and Trey Days met John in his neighborhood in Winterhaven on the south end of Hilton Head. (R. p. 305, line 15 – p. 306, lines 1-7). According to Jestin, he went to get his BB gun back from John but Dominique and Trey planned to take John’s marijuana. (R. p. 323, lines 2-14). Jestin testified that John gave Dominique the marijuana and then Dominique drove away without paying for it. (R. p. 325, line 16 -p. 326, lines 1-13). Jestin testified that it was about three grams or about sixty dollars (\$60.00) worth of marijuana. (R. p. 326, lines 14-19).

The next day, Saturday, July 18, 2015, John went to his friend, Dontarious Seay’s house. (R. p. 595, lines 1-24). The apartment complex where Dontarious lived was next door to where John lived. (R. p. 329, lines 1-9). John testified that Jestin called him on Saturday and suggested that John and Dominique fight it out. (R. p. 596, lines 13-25). Jestin, Dominique, Devon Williams and Drew Bouldin showed up at the apartment complex where John and Domique had a fist fight. (R. p. 597, lines 1-10). Jestin videotaped the fight and the video was introduced in evidence as State’s Exhibit #33. (R. p. 330, lines 1-23). After the fight the whole group went upstairs to Dontarious’ apartment where Dominique continued to brag about taking John’s marijuana. (R. p. 598, lines 14-23). John testified that he stayed to himself and did not pay any attention. (R. p. 598, line 23 – p. 599, lines 1-7). Jestin testified, however, that John threatened Dominique if he did not return his “stuff.” (R. p. 334, lines 2-13). After the others

left Dontarious' apartment, John left to go to his grandmother's house in Hardeeville. (R. p. 601, lines 1-11).

The next day, Sunday, July 19, 2015, John and Dontarious went to the beach where they saw Jestin and Dominique and Devon Williams. (R. pp. 608-610). John confronted Jestin about "hanging with the person [Dominique] that just robbed me." (R. p. 609, lines 21-24). John testified, "As I was talking to Jestin about how he was supposed to be my homeboy but he was hanging with somebody that just robbed me, Dom said what that supposed to mean, like, you already know what's up. As I looked, I seen him coming towards me and reaching for something." (R. p. 610, lines 17-21). John then testified, "the first – my first reaction, I was afraid for my life. So the gun I had on me, I shot once in the direction and ran away." (R. p. 610, lines 23-25). Dominique Williams died as a result of a single gunshot to wound to the head. (R. p. 260, lines 8-13)

ARGUMENTS

- 1. The trial judge erred in admitting State's Exhibit #37, a video containing two separate interviews with a witness, as extrinsic evidence of three purported prior inconsistent statements pursuant to Rule 613(b) when the State failed to lay the proper foundation for one of the statements and the witness did not deny or not recall making another of the statements.**

Dontarious Seay was called as a witness by the State. (R. pp. 419-445). Dontarious testified that he did not remember telling the investigators that he heard John say something right after the shooting. (R. p. 425, line 24 – p. 426, lines 1-3). Dontarious also testified that he did not remember telling the investigators that John Duncan “did what he said he was going to do.” (R. p. 427, lines 1-23; p. 428, line 22 – p. 429, lines 1-4). Dontarious, however, agreed that he told officers that John said that he was going to take matters into his own hands and that he would not get robbed again. (R. p. 428, lines 3-21). After the shooting investigators interviewed Dontarious twice, once in the early morning on July 20, 2015, and once on July 22, 2015. (R. p. 574, line 14 – p. 575, lines 1-24). Dontarious is wearing a blue jumpsuit in the July 20th interview and a white shirt in the July 22nd interview. The interviews appear in reverse chronological order in the video introduced as State's Exhibit #37.

One of the investigators who interviewed Dontarious, Investigator Reynells, was not called as a witness by the State in their case in chief but was called by the Defense. (R. pp. 534-577). During a break in the trial the State announced the intention of introducing the video of the interviews with Donatious, with an added subtitle transcript¹, as a prior inconsistent statement pursuant to Rule 613(b). (R. p. 548, line 12 – p. 549 – 560). Defense counsel objected to the admission of the videos arguing that he did not recall the questions asked and did not remember if the State established a proper foundation for the admission of extrinsic

¹ The addition of the subtitle transcript is challenged in issue two below.

evidence of a prior inconsistent statement pursuant to Rule 613(b). (R. p. 549, lines 7-11; p. 550, line 21 – p. 551, lines 1-15). The State argued:

If I may, Your Honor, my notes are very good because I specifically asked this because I knew, in fact, he wouldn't answer the question. I asked did this take place at the Beaufort County sheriff's office, the Hilton Head substation, and then I rephrased that to say the Hilton head station. Did it occur on July the 20th and July the 22nd, the first one at 7:21 a.m. and the second time or sometime around there and the second one at 2:21 p.m. I then asked were you talking to Investigator Reynells and Investigator Lavant, and then I specifically asked do you remember him saying – you telling the officer that Duncan's – you heard Duncan say something after the shot, Duncan shot Dom, had the gun in a purple bag, wasn't going to be robbed, he had been robbed before, but he wasn't going to be robbed again and he was going to take matters into his own hands.

And then the last statement was that Dom – that you told the investigator Dom [sic] did what he said he was going to do. Number one, he could not remember the first one or the last one. He – in fact, the next to the last one where he wasn't robbed again, he said I don't remember telling him that, but I remember talking to Dom somewhat about that. So he was kind of vague with that. And then on cross-examination is when the defense counsel crossed him on the fact that – oh, but I was under – I was under duress. He was – he was scaring me and all that too.

(R. p. 551, line 16 – p. 552, lines 1-15). The State then cited to State v. Blalock, 357 S.C. 74, 591 S.E.2d 632 (Ct. App. 2003), and State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 522, 702 S.E.2d 395, 406 (Ct. App. 2010).

The judge ruled that the videos, with the added subtitle transcript, were admissible. (R. p. 560, lines 10-16). The State moved to admit the videos of the interviews with Dontarious during the cross-examination of Investigator Reynells. (R. p. 572, lines 15-17). Appellant renewed the objection. (R. p. 572, lines 18-20). The trial judge overruled the objection and the videos were admitted as State's Exhibit #37 and played for the jury. (R. p. 573, lines 4-5; p. 574, line 25 – p. 575, lines 1-4). The trial judge erred in admitting State's Exhibit #37.

Rule 613(b) provides:

Extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement by a witness is not admissible unless the witness is advised of the substance of the statement, the time and place it was allegedly made, and the person to whom it was made, and is given the opportunity to explain or deny the statement. If a witness does not admit that he has made the prior inconsistent statement, extrinsic evidence of such statement is admissible. However, if a witness admits making the prior statement, extrinsic evidence that the prior statement was made is inadmissible. This provision does not apply to admissions of a party-opponent as defined in Rule 801(d)(2).

The State sought to introduce the video of the interviews with Dontarious, State's Exhibit #37, as extrinsic evidence of three prior inconsistent statements: 1.) a statement that Dontarious did not remember telling the investigators that he heard John say something right after the shooting. (R. p. 425, line 24 – p. 426, lines 1-3); 2.) a statement that Dontarious did not remember telling the investigators that John Duncan “did what he said he was going to do.” (R. p. 427, lines 1-23; p. 428, line 22 – p. 429, lines 1-4); and 3.) a statement that John said that he was going to take matters into his own hands and that he would not get robbed again. (R. p. 428, lines 3-21). The State should not have been allowed to introduce State's Exhibit #37 with regard to the first and third statements.

As to the first statement, the State failed to lay the proper foundation for admission of the video pursuant to Rule 613(b) when Dontarious testified that he did not remember telling the investigators that he heard John say something right after the shooting. The following took place during the questioning of Dontarious:

Q: Did you hear him say – did you hear John Duncan say anything to Dominique before he shot him?

A: No, sir.

Q: Did you hear him say anything afterwards?

A: No, sir.

Q: Do you recall telling officers that you heard him say something afterwards?

A: Not at all.

(R. p. 425, line 21 – p. 426, lines 1-3). The State failed to advise the witness of the time and place the statement was made. Also, the general reference to officers does not satisfy the requirement that the witness be advised to whom the statement was made. The portion of the video of the interview when Dontarious tells the investigators he heard John say something after the shooting should not have been admitted because the State failed to lay the proper foundation pursuant to Rule 613(b).

As to the third statement, the following took place during the questioning of Dontarious:

Q: Do you recall telling the officer that John Duncan told you he had been robbed before, but he wasn't going to be robbed again, he would take matters into his own hands?

A: Can you repeat your question?

Q: Do you recall telling the officers that John Duncan had been robbed before and he told you he wasn't going to be robbed again, he was going to take matters into his own hands?

A: I remember having a conversation with John about this and I remember him saying it wasn't going to happen again.

Q: But that's – that's after the first robbery?

A: Correct.

Q: After another robbery, he says it's not going to happen again?

A: (No verbal response).

Q: Do you remember telling the officers - -

THE COURT REPORTER: I'm sorry. He didn't answer.

Q: -- that?

A: Correct.

Q: Okay. I'm sorry. I interrupted. Correct. And that he was going to take matters into his own hands, that he would not get robbed again; is that correct?

A: Correct.

(R. p. 427, line 24 – p. 428, lines 1-21).

Dontarious did not deny telling the officers that John said he was not going to get robbed again and was going to take matters into his own hands. The portion of the video where Dontarious discusses the prior robbery, John not wanting to get robbed again and taking things into his own hands should not have been admitted pursuant to Rule 613(b). The portion of the video dealing with the first and third statements comes from the interview conducted on July 22, 2015, where Dontarious is wearing a white shirt. This interview appears first on State's Exhibit #37. The entire July 22nd interview should have been removed from State's Exhibit #37.

As to the second statement that Dontarious did not remember telling the investigators that John Duncan "did what he said he was going to do," this was the only prior statement that should have been admitted pursuant to Rule 613(b). Dontarious made this statement during the July 20, 2015, interview that appears after the July 22nd interview discussed above and contained in State's Exhibit #37. At trial the State advised the witness of the time, place and specifically to whom the statement was made and the witness did not recall making the statement. (R. p. 427, lines 1-23). This is the only portion that should have been admitted in evidence pursuant to Rule 613(b). The trial judge abused his discretion by including the July 22nd interview in State's Exhibit #37. The error is not harmless especially as it was introduced during the presentation of Appellant's self-defense claim.

The present case is easily distinguished from State v. Blalock, 357 S.C. 74, 591 S.E.2d 632 (Ct. App. 2003), one of the cases cited by the State. The issue in Blalock was whether the

witness made a clear and unequivocal admission that her prior statement to a detective was inconsistent with her trial testimony. The Court of Appeals found that the witness did not make a clear and unequivocal admission that her prior statement to a detective was inconsistent with her trial testimony. As a result, the admission of her statement to the detective was proper as extrinsic evidence pursuant to Rule 613(b). The issues in the present case involve the State's failure to lay a proper foundation for the first statement about whether John said something after the shooting and the fact that Dontarious admitted telling the officer that John did not want to get robbed again and was taking things into his own hands as to the third statement. Neither of these statements should have been admitted pursuant to Rule 613(b).

The present case is also easily distinguished from State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 523, 702 S.E.2d 395, 406 (Ct. App. 2010), the other case cited by the State. In Moses extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement was properly admitted because the witness stated she could not remember making the prior statement and the witness was advised by the State of the substance of the statement she made, the time and place it was allegedly made, the person to whom it was made, and she was given the opportunity to explain or deny the statement. In the present case the State failed to lay the proper foundation as to the first statement and there was no inconsistent statement as to the third statement. The error in including the July 22nd interview in State's Exhibit #37 requires reversal.

- 2. When State's Exhibit #37, the video containing two separate interviews with a witness, was published to the jury at trial, the trial judge erred in allowing the State to edit the Exhibit to include a purported subtitle transcript of the interviews prepared by an employee of the prosecutor's office, as the State argued that the added subtitle transcript portion was only for demonstrative purposes and would not be admitted in evidence and sent back to the jury.**

When the State advised the Judge about moving to admit State's Exhibit #37, discussed above in issue one, the State also sought to add to the video a subtitle transcript of the interviews. (R. p. 548, line 12 – p. 549, lines 1-2). The Solicitor told the judge:

The only thing I'm going to go into with Investigator Reynells are the statements by the witnesses, which he's crossed – which he's examined him on as far as being inconsistent.

Yesterday, I – Dontarious Seay testified and he testified to some of the – remembering some of the statements, some of which he did not remember. All of those were given to Seth Reynells and I think we've discussed this with the defense that we have Seth – excuse me – Dontarious Seay's interview that we plan on playing.

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