RECEIVED

Apr 08 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County
Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2019-001919

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

John Ira Duncan, III,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ISAAC MCDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Preservation

Initially, the issue raised regarding the third statement is not preserved for review on appeal. Appellant never asserted Seay admitted the statement; instead, his sole argument at trial was that the witness was not adequately provided notice of the contents of the statement, when it was made, and to whom it was made. (T.493; 495; R.549; 551). See State v. Stone, 376 S.C. 32, 36, 655 S.E.2d 487, 488-489 (2007) (“Because Appellant did not argue these grounds in support of his objection at trial, Appellant’s argument is not preserved for review. . . . If a pitch was never thrown at trial, we cannot review whether the trial court made the proper call.”)

Further, Appellant asserted at trial that the entire video should be excluded. However, he now concedes part of the video was properly admitted. The trial court was not confronted with a request to redact any portions of the recording or to only allow the jury to see the second statement

which Appellant has agreed was properly admitted. As a result, the trial court did not err in denying the request to exclude the entirety of Exhibit 37.

“For an issue to be properly preserved it has to be raised to and ruled on by the trial court.” State v. Stahlnecker, 386 S.C. 609, 617, 690 S.E.2d 565, 570 (2010). Additionally, a party may not raise one ground at trial and an alternative ground on appeal. State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989); State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 134, 620 S.E.2d 737, 741 (2005) (holding an issue not preserved when one ground is raised to the trial court and another ground is raised on appeal).

Finally, after raising his objection, the State indicated that according to their notes the proper questions required by Rule 613, SCRE, were asked of Seay when he was testifying. (T.495-496; R.551-552). In response, Appellant’s counsel did not continue to contest whether the proper questions were posed to the witness. Instead, he stated: “I have to take him at his word just because I don’t remember it. I trust that that’s, in fact, the questions he asked.” (T.497; R.553). At that point, Appellant’s counsel removed any determination from the judge’s hands and acquiesced that Rule 613 had been met. See State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 315–16, 642 S.E.2d 582, 588 (2007) (explaining an issue conceded at trial cannot be argued on appeal); State v. Mitchell, 330 S.C. 189, 195, 498 S.E.2d 642, 645 (1998) (holding appellant waived an issue for appellate review because he acquiesced to the trial court’s ruling); State v. Rios, 388 S.C. 335, 342, 696 S.E.2d 608, 612 (Ct. App. 2010) (“[A] party cannot acquiesce to an issue at trial and then complain on appeal.”).

Harmless Error

Even if the first and third statements were improperly admitted, any error was entirely harmless.¹ First, the third statement was admitted so the admission of the statement, while error,

¹ On the merits, the first statement was properly admitted as a prior inconsistent statement under Rule 613, SCRE. The witness, Seay, was sufficiently provided notice of the contents of the statement, when the statement was given,

was at best cumulative and could not have been prejudicial. See Anderson v. Elliott, 228 S.C. 371, 376, 90 S.E.2d 367, 369 (1955) (“A careful examination of the testimony of the witnesses given at the prior trial with that in the present case reveals no material variance in their testimony, and, under such circumstances, the ruling of the trial judge resulted in no prejudice to the appellant.”). Additionally, in order for an error to warrant reversal, the error must result in prejudice to the appellant. See State v. McLeod, 362 S.C. 73, 79–80, 606 S.E.2d 215, 219 (Ct. App. 2004); see also State v. Wyatt, 317 S.C. 370, 453 S.E.2d 890 (1995) (error without prejudice does not warrant reversal).

As to the first statement, Seay was impeached by the properly admitted prior inconsistent statement. As a result, the purpose behind its admission under Rule 613 was already accomplished and so any prejudice from its admission was miniscule. Further, the extent of the statement was that after Appellant shot Dominique “he said something else to them, he said something else to somebody over there.” While impeaching because it contradicts Seay’s claim that he didn’t hear Appellant say anything after the shooting, it does not even indicate what was said or provide anything exculpatory in the statement. As a result, it could not conceivably have affected the outcome of the trial. See State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 448, 710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011) (“Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.”); State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 212, 631 S.E.2d 262, 267 (2006) (“Generally, appellate courts will not set aside convictions due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result.”).

and to whom the statement was given. He was asked: “Do you recall telling officers that you heard [Appellant] say something [after the shooting]?” (T.370; R.426). Shortly thereafter, Seay was specifically asked about the second statement which he made to officers during interviews that took place. He was given specific dates, times, and locations. It is clear that Seay would have understood the questions about both the first and second statement related to the interviews with officers after the shooting. There is no other logical time which could have been referenced. As a result, he was provided sufficient notice as required under Rule 613.

II. The trial court properly allowed the use of a copy of Exhibit 37 which contained a subtitle transcript as demonstrative evidence. The copy with the transcript was not submitted to the jury, there has been no objection to the quality or content of the transcript, and the judge made it clear to the jury that they were to believe their own hearing and not the words on the screen.

Appellant maintains the trial court erred in allowing the jury to view a copy of State's Exhibit 37 which contained a transcript in the subtitles of the video. The transcript was properly allowed to assist the jury. The trial court properly gave a limiting instruction that the transcript was not evidence and the jury was only to consider what they heard. Finally, Appellant cannot demonstrate how he was prejudiced because he has not even argued that any discrepancies exist between the transcript and what Seay actually said on the video.

Standard of Review

As discussed in the previous issue, the admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial judge and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice. See Pagan, 369 S.C. at 208, 631 S.E.2d at 265; Kelley, 319 S.C. at 176, 460 S.E.2d at 370.

Merits

On the merits, the trial court properly allowed the jury to utilize the provided transcript to assist them with the Exhibit. In State v. Winkler, 388 S.C. 574, 585, 698 S.E.2d 596, 602 (2010), the Supreme Court found the trial court did not abuse its discretion by allowing the jury to review a 911 call transcript while the 911 tape was replayed in the courtroom during deliberations, which mirrored the way the evidence was presented at trial. Additionally, its admission is similar to other demonstrative evidence used to assist the jury in its understanding of the evidence being admitted. See, e.g., Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 383, 529 S.E.2d 528, 535 (2000) (“Demonstrative evidence often is admitted only for use in the courtroom to explain and illustrate a witness’s testimony.”). As the Fourth Circuit has explained: “The use of typed transcripts as aids to the jury

in listening to the tapes is a matter within the sound discretion of the trial judge.” United States v. Long, 651 F.2d 239, 243 (4th Cir. 1981); see also, United States v. McMillan, 508 F.2d 101, 105 (8th Cir. 1974) (finding a transcript of a recording can be used to assist the jury as it listens to the tape, especially when there is no contest to the accuracy of the transcript and even when the transcript is created and provided by one party). In the instant case the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the jury to utilize the transcript to assist them as they listened to the interview recordings.

Most significantly, the trial court explained the purpose for the transcript and limited the jury’s use of the transcript. He specifically charged the jury:

I do tell you that you are not to consider this transcript that accompanies the Exhibit Number 37 for any purpose other than to assist you in understanding the words spoken in this Exhibit Number 37. This transcript is not in evidence. And if any juror believes the words spoken in this State’s Exhibit Number 37 are not the same as the words in the transcript, then you are to trust your own hearing even if it’s different than these words.

(T.517-518; R.573-574). If there was any confusion regarding how the jury was to use the transcript and whether they needed to pay attention to the video, the trial court correctly limited the use and reliance on the transcript. See State v. Young, 420 S.C. 608, 624, 803 S.E.2d 888, 896 (Ct. App. 2017) (“Limiting instructions are deemed to cure error unless ‘it is probable that, notwithstanding the instruction, the accused was prejudiced.’ ” (quoting State v. Smith, 290 S.C. 393, 395, 350 S.E.2d 923, 924 (1986))); id. at 623, 803 S.E.2d at 896 (“We start by presuming the cure worked, for we also presume juries follow their instructions.”).

Finally, Appellant has not demonstrated how he was prejudiced by the inclusion of the transcript when the recording was played. He speculates about the jury and whether they will pay proper attention or only read the words on the screen, but he does not indicate how this is

prejudicial. Importantly, Appellant has never identified at trial or on appeal any significant distinctions between what is heard on the recording being said by Seay and what is in the transcript provided while it was being watched at trial. The trial court also minimized any harm by sending back and admitting State's Exhibit 37 without any copy of the transcript provided so the only evidence actually admitted to be considered by the jury, consistent with the judge's limiting instruction, was the actual recording. As a result, there was no abuse of discretion by the judge in allowing the use of the transcript during the playing of State's Exhibit 37.

III. While the instruction on implied from the use of a deadly weapon may have been incorrectly given based on the mitigating claim of self-defense, the issue is not properly preserved for review on appeal and is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Appellant contends the trial court erred in giving a jury charge instructing that malice could be inferred from Appellant's use of a deadly weapon in violation of State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 611, 685 S.E.2d 802, 809 (2009). Even though it was error to give the charge, the error is not preserved for review on appeal and is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Preservation

During discussion on the charges, the trial court asked both parties: "Does *State v. Belcher* take out the inferred malice done with a deadly weapon?" The court indicated his belief that it needs to be removed. (T.601; R.657). Counsel for Appellant indicated he needed to look at the case further, but was "good with leaving it out." (T.601-602; R.657-658). The discussion then turned to application of *Gibson v. State*, and whether it allows a charge regarding the implication of malice in an intentional killing. (T.602-603; R.658-659). The discussion ended with the trial court indicating they would discuss the charge further. (T.603; R.659).

When the court returned in the morning, the discussion turned to additional charges related to the self-defense charge. After significant discussion, the trial court ruled on the additional charges related to self-defense, but there was never any more discussion of the implied malice charge. Additionally, the trial court never made a clear ruling on whether he was giving or not giving the jury instruction. After the discussion, the court asked the parties if there was a need to take up anything else before the jury came in for closing arguments and instruction. Appellant's counsel indicated: "Nothing from the defense, Your Honor." (T.641; R.697).

During the charge to the jury, the court stated: “The law says that if one intentionally kills another with a deadly weapon, the implication of malice may arise.” (T.690; R.746). The court continued:

If facts are proven beyond a reasonable doubt sufficient to raise an inference of malice to your satisfaction, this inference would simply be an evidentiary fact to be taken into consideration by you, the jury. Along with the other evidence in the case, you give it the weight you determine it should receive.

(T.691; R.747).

After the jury charge, the trial court asked the parties if there were any exceptions. The State indicated none, and the court then asked: “From the defense?” (T.695; R.751). Instead of raising any objection to the jury instructions and in particular to the implied malice charge, Appellant’s counsel brought up an issue related to a juror possibly falling asleep. (T.695; R.751). At the end of the discussion regarding the juror, the judge asked if there was anything else. Again, the Appellant’s counsel only addressed something related to the jury, seeking to have the juror identified. Once that was done, he indicated “Nothing else from the defense, though, Your Honor.” (T.701; R.757). Finally, the court asked: “Are we ready for the jury to begin deliberations?” Appellant’s counsel indicated: “The defense is ready, Your Honor.” At no time after the charge, did Appellant’s counsel raise any objection to the implied malice charge given by the trial court.

To preserve an issue for appellate review, “[t]he issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity.” S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C., 372 S.C. 295, 301-02, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007) (quoting Jean Hofer Toal et al., Appellate Practice in South Carolina 57 (2d ed. 2002)). Rule 20(b) of the Rules of Criminal Procedure states:

Notwithstanding any request for legal instructions, the parties shall be given the opportunity to object to the giving or failure to give an

instruction before the jury retires, but out of the hearing of the jury. Any objection shall state distinctly the matter objected to and the grounds for objection. Failure to object in accordance with this rule shall constitute a waiver of objection.

Rule 20(b), SCRCrimP; see also, State v. Staten, 364 S.C. 7, 41, 610 S.E.2d 823, 841 (Ct. App. 2005) (holding an issue relating to a jury charge is not preserved for appellate review unless a party either requested the charge and obtained a ruling or objected on specific grounds to the charge as given), *vacated in part on other grounds by*, 374 S.C. 9, 647 S.E.2d 207 (2007); State v. Hartley, 307 S.C. 239, 241, 414 S.E.2d 182, 184 (Ct. App. 1992) (finding defendant did not object to instruction at trial so he “has therefore waived his right to complain about it on appeal.”).

Harmless Error

Even if preserved, the error in giving the charge was entirely harmless as it could not have reasonably impacted the jury’s determination finding Appellant guilty of murder. Even Appellant’s version of the events did not support a claim for self-defense. As a result, the giving of the improper charge could not have impacted the jury’s verdict. Errors, including erroneous jury instructions, are subject to harmless error analysis. State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 611, 685 S.E.2d 802, 809 (2009). This Court recently articulated the proper harmless error analysis:

“When considering whether an error with respect to a jury instruction was harmless, we must ‘determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict.’ ” Further, to determine whether an error in giving the instruction was harmless, we must consider the jury charge as a whole. “We must review the facts the jury heard and weigh those facts against the erroneous jury charge to determine what effect, if any, it had on the verdict.” “[O]ur inquiry is not what the verdict would have been had the jury been given the correct charge, but whether the erroneous charge contributed to the verdict rendered.” “[W]hether or not the error was harmless is a fact-intensive inquiry.”

State v. Franks, 432 S.C. 58, 81, 849 S.E.2d 580, 592–93 (Ct. App. 2020) (internal citations omitted).

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